ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

JUN 30 2014

Certiorari to Richland County
James R. Barber, III, Circuit Court Judge

S.C. Supreme Court

JAYMES M. WOOD,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-002543

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. The day before Petitioner pled guilty, the presiding judge sentenced a defendant to probation following the defendant's guilty plea to assaulting a child in the defendant's care as a daycare worker. A media firestorm followed calling the judge's sentence too lenient. During Petitioner's guilty plea to criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the second degree, the plea judge revealed his daughter had been sexually assaulted as a child. Did plea counsel's failure to move to recuse the plea judge in light of these circumstances violate Petitioner's right to the effective assistance of counsel pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and South Carolina law?

II. Did plea counsel's failure to move to withdraw Petitioner's guilty plea when the plea judge revealed his daughter had been sexually assaulted during Petitioner's guilty plea to criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the second degree violate Petitioner's right to the effective assistance of counsel pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and South Carolina law?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Richland County grand jury indicted Petitioner for criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the second degree. App. 127-128. On December 9, 2008, Petitioner appeared before the Honorable Kenneth G. Goode to enter a guilty plea to the charged offense. Margaret Fent represented the state, and Luke Shealey represented Petitioner. App. 1. Judge Goode sentenced Petitioner to fifteen years' imprisonment. App. 17, lines 17-21; App. 129. Petitioner filed a motion for reconsideration of sentence on December 12, 2008. App. 19. On December 9, 2009, the Honorable Alison Lee heard the motion. Anna Good represented the state, and Luke Shealey continued his representation of Petitioner. App. 20. Judge Lee denied the request to reduce Petitioner's sentence. App. 35, line 17 – App. 39, line 3.

Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal, which was perfected by LaNelle Durant. App. 41-50. The state, represented by William Blich, Jr., filed a brief opposing appellate relief. App. 51-66. On February 9, 2012, the Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's conviction and sentence finding the issue unpreserved for appellate review. App. 67-68.¹

On October 22, 2012, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 69-80. An evidentiary hearing convened on October 1, 2013 before the Honorable James R. Barber. Paul B. Rogers represented Petitioner, and Mary S. Williams represented the state. App. 89. By an order filed on November 5, 2013, Judge Barber denied Petitioner relief. App. 117-126.

Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal. This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

¹ Petitioner raised the following issue in his brief: Whether the plea judge erred by not recusing himself from the case where appellant was pleading guilty to CSC with a minor and the plea judge stated just prior to sentencing that his own daughter had been assaulted when she was eight years old. App. 44.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On December 8, 2008, Judge Goode accepted the guilty plea of Talisha Smith to causing great bodily injury to a child. Smith was a home day care provider for children, including Kendra Gaddie. Smith admitted to striking Kendra in the head causing traumatic brain injury. Although the offense carried a sentence of up to twenty years in prison, Judge Goode sentenced Smith to probation. Thereafter, a media firestorm erupted. “Judge Goode was roundly attacked by the media, criticized.” Kendra’s family lobbied members of the South Carolina Legislature for a mandatory minimum sentence for the offense. Eventually, lawmakers passed Kendra’s Law requiring training for home day care providers. App. 23, lines 11-23; App. 106, lines 2-16. Additionally, Judge Goode’s fitness was questioned by lawmakers. Eventually, Judge Goode retired. App. 24, lines 1-4.

Petitioner’s Guilty Plea

The following day, Petitioner pled guilty to criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the second degree before Judge Goode. App. 1. Plea counsel was unaware of Talisha Smith’s plea the previous day or of the adverse publicity received by Judge Goode for what was perceived as a too lenient sentence. However, plea counsel later admitted that he should have been aware of the intense media scrutiny prior to advising Petitioner to plead guilty. App. 106, lines 17-25.

During the guilty plea proceedings, the prosecutor provided Judge Goode with a factual basis for the plea. Appellant, who was nineteen years of age at the time, was visiting with a friend on August 4, 2007. Minor, who was fourteen years old at the time, arrived to visit with friends as well. Minor and Appellant went into another room and Minor performed oral sex on Appellant. In a statement to police, Appellant admitted he knew Minor’s age and that Minor had performed oral sex on him. App. 4, line 24 – App. 5, line 25. Thereafter, Judge Goode found there was a

substantial factual basis for the plea, found the guilty plea was “freely, voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently” entered, and accepted the plea of guilty. App. 6, lines 10-14.

In mitigation, Appellant explained “there was absolutely nothing forcible” about the sexual encounter between Appellant and Minor. Appellant elaborated that “[t]here was no coercion.” App. 10, lines 21-23; App. 11, lines 15-16. The judge responded, “All due respect, he said it wasn’t a violent situation. You know, I consider it just absolutely one of the most violent situations. I have a twenty-six year-old daughter who was violated at Girl Scout camp when she was eight. She hasn’t recovered from that yet.” App. 17, lines 6-11. He continued, “So, it’s violent in my eyes, and unfortunately for Mr. Woods, it’s my eyes that count today in a way that exceeds some type physical injury.” App. 17, lines 13-16. Immediately thereafter, Judge Goode sentenced Petitioner to fifteen years’ imprisonment. App. 17, lines 17-21.

Petitioner’s Motion for Reconsideration

On December 12, 2008, Petitioner filed a motion for reconsideration of his sentence. App. 19. The Honorable Alison Lee presided over a hearing on the motion on December 9, 2009. Shealey continued his representation of Petitioner, and Anna Good represented the state. App. 20. Petitioner explained the motion was based upon the media criticism of Judge Goode concerning his “lenient” sentencing of Smith the day prior to Petitioner’s guilty plea. App. 23, lines 11-25; App. 32, lines 12-17. Additionally, the motion was based upon Judge Goode’s revelation immediately prior to sentencing that his daughter “was violated.” App. 24, lines 12-14. Plea counsel stated that he should have moved to withdraw the guilty plea at that time, but neglected to do so. App. 24, lines 15-16. Plea counsel went on to argue for a reduced sentence due to the nature of the offense and Petitioner’s age and his supportive family. App. 24, line 20 – App. 25, line 24; App. 31, line 9

– App. 34, line 25. Ultimately, Judge Lee denied the motion to reconsider his sentence. App. 35, line 17 – App. 39, line 3.

Petitioner's PCR Hearing

During the PCR hearing, Petitioner testified that he was willing to admit his guilt and was looking for a plea bargain. App. 97, line 17 – App. 98, line 1. Unfortunately, the solicitor was unwilling to extend an offer, but was willing to allow Petitioner to enter an “open plea.” Petitioner agreed to an open plea because Judge Goode “was known to be a more lenient judge” according to plea counsel. App. 98, lines 2-13. Prior to his guilty plea, Petitioner was unaware of any publicity Judge Goode had received concerning a lenient sentence. App. 98, line 25 – App. 99, line 4. Additionally, Petitioner was unaware of Judge Goode's daughter having been sexually assaulted as a young girl. Obviously, Petitioner was unaware of the impact of the incident on Judge Goode. App. 99, lines 11-21. When the judge made this revelation, plea counsel failed to discuss with Petitioner the options of withdrawing the guilty plea or moving to recuse Judge Goode. App. 99, line 22 – App. 100, line 7. Petitioner would have requested to plead guilty on a different date or in front of a different judge had he known of the intense media scrutiny surrounding Judge Goode's sentencing practices. App. 99, lines 5-10. Had Petitioner been aware of the unfavorable press coverage surrounding Judge Goode or of Judge Goode's daughter having been sexually assaulted, he “would not have gone forward with the plea.” App. 100, lines 14-22. On cross-examination, Petitioner made clear that he was asking for a new trial. App. 101, lines 15-19.

Plea counsel testified that he was unaware of Judge Goode's daughter having been “violated” at camp as a young girl or the effect that circumstance had upon Judge Goode. Plea counsel viewed Judge Goode as a lenient plea judge and “fair sentencer.” Additionally, plea counsel was not aware of the media scrutiny surrounding Judge Goode on the day of Petitioner's

plea as a result of Judge Goode's imposition of a probationary sentence on Smith the day before. Plea counsel admitted that the Smith case was "very high-profile" and that he should have been aware of the backlash. Plea counsel "would not have pled him at all in front of any judge that day with the intense media scrutiny on this courthouse." He elaborated that he

Particularly would not have taken [Petitioner] in front of Judge Goode, knowing that he was receiving such intense scrutiny, backlash, criticism on that. So, I certainly wouldn't have done that, which I did, and I think that was the next plea he ever did, and I think that was the last plea he ever did after that, and then he resigned.

App. 107, lines 1-6; App. 112, lines 5-7.

Although plea counsel thought of moving to withdraw the guilty plea when Judge Goode revealed the impact his daughter's sexual assault had on him, he failed to do so as a result of inexperience. He admitted that he should have moved to withdraw, which would have preserved the issue for appeal, at a minimum. App. 107, lines 7-18. If Judge Goode had refused plea counsel's motion to withdraw, plea counsel would have moved to recuse. App. 107, lines 22-23. Plea counsel testified the result of Petitioner's case would have been different had plea counsel moved to withdraw or moved to recuse Judge Goode because the issues would have been preserved for appeal at the very least. App. 109, line 9 – App. 110, line 8. Plea counsel admitted that he provided ineffective assistance by failing to move to withdraw the guilty plea or move to recuse Judge Goode. App. 110, lines 16-22.

Concerning Judge Goode's comment about his daughter's sexual abuse, the PCR judge found that "[i]n the context of the plea, it appears that Judge Goode was making a comment that even without ostensible violence, all crimes of this nature have perpetual effects upon the victims." The PCR court then held the sentence pronounced by Judge Goode was within the permissible range and "did not appear to be motivated by any bias or prejudice." App. 121-122. Further, the PCR court held Petitioner's desire to have plea counsel move to withdraw his plea was the result of

a sentence in excess of what he expected and not the result of any error during the plea or his desire for a trial. App. 122. Thus, the PCR judge found no deficient performance and no prejudice. App. 122.

Concerning Petitioner's claim regarding recusal, the PCR court found Judge Goode's "remark about his daughter" did not show personal bias or prejudice against Petitioner, but merely noted "the judge's reflection that even though not a crime ostensibly involving violence, the event would affect the victim." App. 123. Turning to the issue of recusal based on media scrutiny, the PCR court found this claim "without merit." App. 123. "Judges, in the execution of their duties, are inherently subject to public scrutiny." Thus, "[t]o fail to move for recusal of a judge in one case due to scrutiny in a separate, unrelated case, without more, would not be outside the realm of competence." App. 123. Additionally, the PCR judge "decline[d] to find prejudice in the length of [Petitioner]'s sentence." App. 123.

ARGUMENT

I. The day before Petitioner pled guilty, the presiding judge sentenced a defendant to probation following the defendant's guilty plea to assaulting a child in the defendant's care as a daycare worker. A media firestorm followed calling the judge's sentence too lenient. During Petitioner's guilty plea to criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the second degree, the plea judge revealed his daughter had been sexually assaulted as a child. Plea counsel's failure to move to recuse the plea judge in light of these circumstances violated Petitioner's right to the effective assistance of counsel pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and South Carolina law.

The Due Process Clause requires that defendants enter into guilty pleas voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently because the defendants waive important constitutional rights. Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 242-243 (1969). This Court has held that a defendant must "be aware of the nature and crucial elements of the offense, the maximum and any mandatory minimum penalty, and the nature of the constitutional rights being waived." Pittman v. State, 337 S.C. 597, 599, 524 S.E.2d 623, 624 (1999)(citing Dover v. State, 304 S.C. 433, 405 S.E.2d 391 (1991); State v. Hazel, 275 S.C. 392, 271 S.E.2d 602 (1980)). To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, Petitioner must establish that counsel's performance was unreasonable under prevailing professional norms, and that counsel's deficient performance prejudiced his defense. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). A two pronged test is used in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. Petitioner must prove that counsel's performance was deficient and fell below reasonable professional norms; and there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result would have been different. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117-118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). In cases involving guilty pleas, the prejudice prong requires a showing that there

is a reasonable probability, but for counsel's errors, Petitioner would have insisted upon a trial. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52 (1985).

“A fair trial in a fair tribunal is a basic requirement of due process. Fairness of course requires an absence of actual bias in the trial of cases. But our system has always endeavored to prevent even the probability of unfairness.” In re Murchison, 349 U.S. 133, 136 (1955). According to South Carolina's Code of Judicial Conduct, “a judge shall avoid impropriety and the appearance of impropriety in all of the judge's activities.” Canon 2, CJC, Rule 501, SCACR. The comment to Canon 2 provides: “A judge must avoid all impropriety and appearance of impropriety.... The test for appearance of impropriety is whether the conduct would create in reasonable minds a perception that the judge's ability to carry out judicial responsibilities with integrity, impartiality, and competence is impaired.”

Generally, “[a] judge shall disqualify himself or herself in a proceeding in which the judge's impartiality might reasonably be questioned. . . .” Canon 3(E)(1), CJC, Rule 501, SCACR. The comments provide that “[a] judge must perform judicial duties impartially and fairly. A judge who manifests bias on any basis in a proceeding impairs the fairness of the proceeding and brings the judiciary into disrepute.” Additionally, the commentary explains that under Canon 3(E)(1), “a judge is disqualified whenever the judge's impartiality might reasonably be questioned, regardless whether any specific rules in Section 3E(1) apply.”

In Simpson v. Simpson, 377 S.C. 519, 660 S.E.2d 274 (Ct. App. 2008), the Court of Appeals confronted the issue of judicial recusal. After citing the relevant Canons in the Code of Judicial Conduct, the Court explained the “party seeking disqualification must do more than merely allege bias on the judge's behalf; the party must present some evidence of judicial prejudice or bias.” Id. at 524, 660 S.E.2d at 277. In Mallett v. Mallett, 323 S.C. 141, 145, 473

S.E.2d 804, 807 (Ct. App. 1996), the Court of Appeals examined when a judge's impartiality may be reasonably questioned due to instances where the judge has a personal bias or prejudice against a party. "Such bias must stem from an extrajudicial source and result in decisions based on information other than what the judge learned from his participation in the case." Id. "[T]he bias must be personal as distinguished from judicial." Id. at 146, 473 S.E.2d at 808.

Plea counsel provided deficient performance by failing to move to recuse Judge Goode based upon the intense public scrutiny of Judge Goode's sentencing practices following the guilty plea and sentencing of Smith the day before Petitioner's guilty plea and when Judge Goode revealed that his daughter had been sexually assaulted as a child impacting his view. At a minimum, the issue would have been preserved for review, which would have allowed Petitioner to raise it on appeal. When Petitioner attempted to raise the issue, the Court of Appeals correctly found the issue unpreserved as it was not raised to and ruled upon by the trial court. Following the Smith guilty plea, Judge Goode was under tremendous scrutiny by the public concerning his sentencing. The Gaddie family campaigned to change the laws in South Carolina to require a mandatory minimum for the criminal offense. Eventually, the family's campaign succeeded in the promulgation of Kendra's Law. Not long after the Smith guilty plea, and Petitioner's guilty plea, Judge Goode resigned from the bench. Judge Goode's comments on the record concerning his daughter's childhood sexual assault and the impact it had on his views regarding sexual assaults. Judge Goode looked at charges of sexual assault – particularly those involving underage individuals – through the lens of a father whose child was assaulted sexually. This personal bias prevented Judge Goode from exercising his duties fairly and impartially.

Plea counsel's deficient performance prejudiced Petitioner because Petitioner would not have entered a guilty plea before Judge Goode had he known of Judge Goode's bias due to the

public outcry over his sentencing practices or of Judge Goode's bias resulting from his daughter's sexual assault. Petitioner and plea counsel made this clear through their testimony during the PCR hearing and by filing a motion to reconsider the sentence raising the issue of Judge Goode's bias due to the media attention and his daughter's sexual assault.

II. Plea counsel's failure to move to withdraw Petitioner's guilty plea when the plea judge revealed his daughter had been sexually assaulted during Petitioner's guilty plea to criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the second degree violated Petitioner's right to the effective assistance of counsel pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and South Carolina law.

The Due Process Clause requires that defendants enter into guilty pleas voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently because the defendants waive important constitutional rights. Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 242-243 (1969). This Court has held that a defendant must "be aware of the nature and crucial elements of the offense, the maximum and any mandatory minimum penalty, and the nature of the constitutional rights being waived." Pittman v. State, 337 S.C. 597, 599, 524 S.E.2d 623, 624 (1999)(citing Dover v. State, 304 S.C. 433, 405 S.E.2d 391 (1991); State v. Hazel, 275 S.C. 392, 271 S.E.2d 602 (1980)). To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, Petitioner must establish that counsel's performance was unreasonable under prevailing professional norms, and that counsel's deficient performance prejudiced his defense. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). A two pronged test is used in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. Petitioner must prove that counsel's performance was deficient and fell below reasonable professional norms; and there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result would have been different. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117-118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). In cases involving guilty pleas, the prejudice prong requires a showing that there is a reasonable probability, but for counsel's errors, Petitioner would have insisted upon a trial. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52 (1985).

During the PCR hearing, the state argued that Petitioner should be denied relief because his motion to withdraw was based upon receipt of a greater than anticipated sentence. App. 115, lines

4-14; See State v. Cantrell, 250 S.C. 376, 380, 158 S.E.2d 189, 191-192 (1967). The state misapprehended the nature of Petitioner's claim. Plea counsel should have moved to withdraw the guilty plea prior to sentencing – when Judge Goode stated that his daughter had been sexually assaulted. App. 115, lines 15-18.

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