STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Richland County
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable James R. Barber, III, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

NOV 14 2014

Appellate Case No. 2013 – 002543

JAYMES M. WOOD, #315669,

S.C. Supreme Court

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. CLAYTON MITCHELL
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar #101443

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

II. Certiorari is not warranted where there is probative evidence to support the PCR court's ruling that counsel was not ineffective in not moving to recuse the plea judge, in light of supposed media scrutiny over the judge's sentencing practices and after the judge remarked that a family member had been violated.

Petitioner asserts the PCR Court erred in not ruling that counsel was ineffective in failing to move for the recusal of the plea judge. Petitioner claims a "media firestorm" was triggered by a sentence handed down by the plea judge the day before he pled which adversely affected his guilty plea and sentencing. Petitioner also argues that plea counsel should have made a motion to recuse the judge when the judge revealed that a family member had been "violated." This allegation is without merit as there is clearly evidence to support the PCR court's finding that counsel was not ineffective.

The PCR Court found counsel was not deficient in not moving to have the plea judge recused. The PCR Court held that "[t]o fail to move for recusal of a judge in one case due to scrutiny in a separate, unrelated case, without more, would not be outside the realm of competence." The court also found that the remark the plea judge made about his family member did not show personal bias or prejudice against Petitioner.

In a post-conviction relief action, the petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Where the application alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, Petitioner must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674, (1984); Butler, 334 S.E.2d 813.

The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. The courts presume that counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Strickland, 466 U.S. 668. Petitioner must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

Courts use a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. First, the petitioner must prove that counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, the court measures an attorney's performance by its "reasonableness under professional norms." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625, citing Strickland. Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the petitioner such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. With respect to guilty plea counsel, the applicant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's alleged errors, he would not have pled guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52 (1985). Respondent submits Petitioner did not satisfy either requirement of the Strickland test.

The PCR court correctly found that counsel's performance was not deficient in failing to move to recuse the judge based on alleged bias or impartiality. "A judge should disqualify himself in a proceeding in which his impartiality might reasonably be questioned, including but not limited to, instances where he has a personal bias or prejudice against a party." Mallett v. Mallett, 323 S.C. 141, 145, 473 S.E.2d 804, 807 (1996). However, "[i]t is not enough for a party to simply allege bias; a party seeking disqualification of a judge must show some evidence of bias or prejudice." Roper v. Dynamique Concepts, Inc., 316 S.C. 131, 139, 447 S.E.2d 218 (1994). Such an alleged bias "must stem from an extrajudicial source and result in a decision

based on information other than what the judge learned from his participation in the case. Id. Moreover, when a party moving for disqualification alleges bias, any remarks “must be interpreted in the light of the context in which it is uttered in determining whether the remarks show an extrajudicial personal bias or prejudice on the part of the judge sufficient to require that he be disqualified.” Shaw v. State, 276 S.C. 190, 193, 277 S.E.2d 140, 141 (1981).

As an initial matter, Respondent notes that plea counsel’s testimony was the product of hindsight and second guessing. Petitioner cites plea counsel’s testimony in support of his argument for prejudice. Plea counsel testified at the PCR hearing that he should have moved to recuse the plea judge and that he should have moved to withdraw the plea. Plea counsel even went so far as to say that he considered part of his representation ineffective. (App. p. 110, lines 19-22).

On occasion, PCR counsel will obtain some acknowledgement from trial counsel that trial counsel was incompetent. Such self-proclaimed admissions have been regarded with skepticism. Counsel’s self-serving statements need not be accepted as true. Dows v. Wood, 211 F.3d 480, 496 (9th Cir. 2000). The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals dealt with later confessions of trial counsel’s own incompetence in Hendricks v. Calderon, 70 F.3d 1032, 1039 (9th Cir. 1995). The court stated that the latter day emergence of their belief in their incompetence runs afoul of the rule of contemporary assessment, noting that they certainly did not believe it at the time. Id. And their statement that they would do more if they had more information is also the Monday-morning quarterbacking forbidden by the contemporary assessment rule, concluding that if Ben Franklin had more information, he may have invented the television. Id. at 40. See also Rhoades v. Henry, 611 F.3d 1133, 1138 n.1 (“...it is all too easy” for counsel or a court “to conclude that a particular act or omission of counsel was unreasonable in the harsh light of hindsight,” citing

Bell v. Cone, 535 U.S. 685, 702, 123S.Ct. 1843, 1854, 152 L.Ed.2d 914 (2002); Eberts v. Gaetz, 610 F.3d 415 (7th Cir. 2010) (an attorney’s reflection about what should have been done after the fact is irrelevant to the question of ineffective assistance), which is why there is a presumption of reasonable, professional assistance); Miller v. Champion, 161 F.3d 1249, 1286 (10th Cir. 1998) (that counsel would have done something different in “hindsight” is unhelpful because that is the wrong test). The Supreme Court has held that an objective standard of reasonableness applies:

After an adverse verdict at trial even the most experienced counsel may find it difficult to resist asking whether a different strategy might have been better, and, in the course of that reflection, to magnify their own responsibility for an unfavorable outcome. Strickland, however, calls for an inquiry into the objective reasonableness of counsel's performance, not counsel's subjective state of mind.

Harrington v. Richter, 131 S. Ct. 770, 790, 178 L. Ed. 2d 624 (2011).

Here, plea counsel’s testimony is clearly the result of hindsight and should be considered in that light. Respondent submits Petitioner’s reliance on plea counsel’s testimony is misguided since counsel clearly seconded guessed his strategy while giving testimony with the benefit of nearly five (5) years to reflect upon those decisions. Plea counsel testified that he made the decision to proceed before the plea judge with the facts he knew at that time. (App. p. 111, lines 22-25 – App. p. 112, lines 1-7). Respondent submits that plea counsel acted reasonable and was not deficient in any way at the guilty plea proceeding.

A. Recusal based on remarks made by plea judge regarding family member’s abuse.

The PCR court correctly found no evidence of prejudice on the part of judge, based on his remarks during the plea hearing. The remarks that Petitioner takes issue with are as follows:

THE COURT: I’ll make this simple. I’ll terminate his probation on the current charges. All due respect, he said it wasn’t a violent situation. You know, I consider it just absolutely one of the most violent situations. I have a twenty-six year old daughter who was violated at Girl Scout camp when she was eight. She

hasn't recovered from that yet.

(App. p. 17, lines 5-11). Interpreted within the light of the context of the plea hearing, Judge Goode's remarks about his family member being violated did not suggest a personal bias against the Petitioner. Rather, in the context of the plea, Judge Goode was responding to a statement made by Petitioner that the crime was not violent and was attempting to convey to Petitioner that even without ostensible violence, all crimes of sexual misconduct inherently have lasting effects upon the victims. Furthermore, the sentence imposed by the judge was not motivated by any bias or prejudice. In sentencing, the judge considered several factors, such as the Petitioner's repeated pursuit and targeting of this particular child, statements from the victim's mother, and the Petitioner's own criminal record, which revealed a prior indictment for criminal sexual misconduct, and his inability to complete probationary supervision.

B. Recusal based on a sentence handed down by plea judge the day prior.

Additionally, the PCR court properly found Petitioner's allegation that counsel was ineffective in not moving to have the plea judge recused due to external pressure from the media to be without merit. In its Order of Dismissal, the PCR court stated that "[j]udges, in the execution of their duties, are inherently subject to public scrutiny. To fail to move for recusal of a judge in one case due to scrutiny in a separate, unrelated case, without more, would not be outside the realm of competence." Petitioner, thus, offers nothing more than a mere allegation of prejudice on the part of the judge without any evidence that the judge held an extrajudicial bias which formed the basis of his decision. The record is devoid of any evidence that the plea judge was even aware of the media attention. Petitioner argues the plea judge sentenced him in excess of what he would have but for the media scrutiny. This argument is flawed on many bases. First, Petitioner argues the plea judge abandoned his neutral and detached judicial role and failed to act

impartially and fairly. See Canon 3 of the Code of Judicial Conduct, Rule 501 SCACR. That is a bold accusation that is completely unfounded. At the PCR hearing, Petitioner presented this conclusory argument to the court who properly dismissed it as unsupported by the testimony. Second, Petitioner cannot show prejudice. The sentence is legal and within the range described by the plea judge during the colloquy with Petitioner. (App. 3, lines 13-25). Petitioner stated that he understood he could be sentenced to a maximum of twenty (20) years imprisonment. Id.

Therefore, the PCR Court did not err and plea counsel was not ineffective in declining to move to recuse the judge, because the judge's decision was not tainted by or based upon any extrajudicial bias. Likewise, the PCR court's decision should not be disturbed because there is probative evidence that supports the PCR court's ruling that plea counsel was not ineffective.

II. Certiorari is not warranted where there is probative evidence to support the PCR court's ruling that counsel was not ineffective by not moving to withdraw Petitioner's guilty plea.

Petitioner asserts that his plea counsel was ineffective in failing to withdraw his guilty plea after the plea judge stated that a family member had been "violated." As prejudice, Petitioner asserts that the judge's personal experience in this regard resulted in a higher sentence. Petitioner argues that the PCR court erred in finding that his plea counsel was not ineffective when he failed to withdraw the plea even though the plea had already been accepted. This allegation is also without merit as there is clearly evidence to support the PCR court's findings.

The only requirements for a plea to be accepted are that the defendant "understand the nature and crucial elements of the charges, the consequences of the plea, and the constitutional rights he is waiving, and that the record reflect a factual basis for the plea." Rollison v. State, 346 S.C. 506, 511, 522 S.E.2d 290, 292 (2001). Once a defendant has entered a guilty plea, he is not entitled to withdraw it as a matter of right. State v. Thomason, 355 S.C. 278, 285, 584 S.E.2d

143, 146 (2003); Riddle v. State, 278 S.C. 148, 292 S.E.2d 795 (1982). In this instance, a defendant's withdrawal of guilty plea is "left in the sound discretion of the circuit court." Thomason, 355 S.C. at 283. Moreover, "[a]n accused is not permitted to speculate on the supposed clemency of the judge and enter a plea of guilty with the right to retract it if he finds that his expectation was not realized." State v. Cantrell, 250 S.C. 376, 380, 158 S.E.2d 189, 191-192 (1967).

Petitioner cites Rolen v. State, 384 S.C. 409, 683 S.E.2d 471 (2009), in support of his argument. In Rolen, the Court held that plea counsel was ineffective in failing to move to withdraw a guilty plea when the defendant only decided to enter a guilty plea after his attorney advised that the jury would likely find him guilty and when the defendant repeatedly stated that he was innocent during the plea proceedings. Though considering the discretion of the judge in allowing the withdrawal of the guilty plea, the Court reasoned that "[e]ven if the plea judge had denied [Rolen]'s motion to withdraw his plea, [Rolen] could have raised this issue on direct appeal." Id. At 414, 683 S.E.2d at 474. The Court also found ineffective assistance when plea counsel failed to move to withdraw a guilty plea after the State reneged on a plea bargain, and it was unlikely that defendant would have pleaded guilty but for such inadequate assistance. Jordan v State, 297 S.C. 52, 374 S.E.2d (1988).

As discussed above, the PCR Court did not err in finding that the plea judge held no bias or prejudice towards Petitioner in sentencing; likewise, the court did not err in ruling that plea counsel was not ineffective by not withdrawing Petitioner's guilty plea. In the present case, Petitioner, voluntarily and intelligently pleaded guilty to the charge. Petitioner was informed that he faced up to twenty (20) years imprisonment and that the solicitor asked for a minimum sentence of ten (10) years, given his prior offenses and failure to complete probationary

sentences. (App. p. 3, 9). Petitioner was also informed of the offense he was pleading to, advised of his rights to a jury trial, and agreed with the solicitor's statement of facts, including a statement in which he admitted the conduct. (App. p. 4 – 6).

Unlike the defendant in Rolen, the Petitioner was readily willing to admit guilt, and unlike in Jordan, the State never offered Petitioner a plea bargain. Instead, Petitioner asserts that the judge was unfair in sentencing, after he received a sentence more severe than he expected. Petitioner's argument that he received ineffective assistance from his plea counsel is based on this mere allegation of prejudice. The PCR Court cited State v. Harvey, 123 S.E. 201, 202 (1924), in its Order of Dismissal which is particularly applicable:

[withdrawal of a plea] should not be made use of solely because of defendant's surprise at the severity of the sentence imposed, in the absence of some showing that the plea was induced by fraud, misrepresentation, or other unfair or undue means on the part of the prosecuting attorney or the presiding judge

State v. Harvey, 123 S.E. 201, 202 (1924). Plea counsel's failure to move for withdrawal of the plea based on the severity of the sentence did not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel. Therefore, the PCR court's decision should not be disturbed because there is ample probative evidence to support the PCR court's ruling that plea counsel was not ineffective.

CONCLUSION